
Section 
Page 
No

Clause Bidder query Response

SECTION I 4
Pre-Integrity Pact on Rs.200/- stamp paper as per 
the format in this bid document as given in 
Annexure-III.

As stamp papers are available at a denominations 
of Rs.50 and 100. Shall we use two 100 rs stamp 
papers for the execution of the Annexure. 

Yes

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 8
Conducting online/ physical training for multiple 
batches covering one cycle of different user 
groups.

Please advise us on the  No. Of users for training. `

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 8
Conducting online/ physical training for multiple 
batches covering one cycle of different user 
groups.

Training will be post-delivery of the migration. 
Please confirm 

Shortlisted bidders through technical evaluation shall be provided 
with further information, prior to the Proposal for Commercials

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 8

Supply, install, and commission the software and 
provide licences within 30 days from the date of 
issue of the contract order.   Migrate the existing 
reports, dashboards and Analytical Use Cases 
(AUCs) developed in Power BI within six months 
from the date of issue of the contract order.

The migration activity time line will be 6 months 
post license commissioning. Kindly confirm. 

As per the revision through corrigendum

SECTION IV – BIDDER’S ELIGIBILITY 
CRITERIA

10
The primary bidder should have 24*7 offsite 
support.

In page no. 31 , 23 noticed onsite support is 
required . Kindly clarify its on oniste supprt or 
offsite support in business hours. 

As per the revision through corrigendum

ANNEXURE-VIII 33 140 reports 

Any additional new reports to be developed along 

with migrated dashboards. Please specify the count 
if any. 

Shortlisted bidders through technical evaluation shall be provided 

with further information, prior to the Proposal for Commercials

Does the Bank currently have an existing data 
warehouse environment? If yes, please provide:
        1. The database(s) used within the data 
warehouse (e.g., Oracle, SQL Server, Snowflake, 
etc.).
        2. The ETL tool(s) currently being utilized.

Could you specify the total number and types of 
source systems integrated with the data warehouse 
(e.g., Core Banking System, ERP, CRM, third-party 
applications)?

Are there any specific data models or schemas (e.g., 
star or snowflake schema) followed in the current 
setup?

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 8
Migrate the existing reports and dashboards 
developed in Power BI to the new software 
commissioned.

Will the selected bidder have access to existing ETL 
workflows and transformation logic for seamless 
integration and migration?

Yes

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 8 General Delivery Variables
In-house consulting services for specific business 
needs.

Could you provide more details on the scope of the 
in-house consulting services mentioned? 
Specifically:

		Will the consulting services be required on the 
functional side, technical side, or both?
		Will the consultants be expected to develop 
and implement solutions (e.g., dashboards, reports, 
workflows), or will the role be limited to 
advisory/consulting?
		What will be the nature of the engagement—on-
demand (as needed), full-time, or periodic (e.g., 
monthly/quarterly)?
		Are there any expectations regarding the 
number of consultants or skillsets (e.g., data 
scientists, ETL developers, business analysts) 
required?
		Will the consulting team work remotely, on-
site, or a combination of both?
		Is there a timeline or frequency of consulting 
activities already defined (e.g., during specific 
project phases)?

1. Both
2. Yes, development and implementation both
3. It will be need basis
4. It will be need basis
5. Team can work in combination of both on-site/ remote
6. It will be need basis

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 8
Software Installation and Navigation
Software that come bundled with a mobile app 
(for both android and iOS) would be preferred.

When referring to software bundled with a mobile 
app (for both Android and iOS):

			Is the expectation that reports and 

dashboards should be accessible via mobile 
devices?
			Does the Bank currently have mobile 
accessibility for reports and dashboards, or will this 
functionality need to be developed from scratch?
			Are there any specific mobile features 
required, such as offline access, push notifications, 
or biometric login?
			Will the Bank expect the mobile app to offer 
native functionalities (developed specifically for 
Android/iOS), or is a responsive web application 
acceptable?
			Will the bidder need to customize the mobile 
app to meet specific Bank requirements, or is an off-
the-shelf solution preferred?

Yes. 
Further details shall be shared with the shortlisted bidders before 
Proposal for Commercials

Expression of Interest (EoI) for 
“Procurement of Data Analytics Software” - Response to pre-bid queries

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK

General Delivery Variables
Delivery of the Data Analytics software with 
licenses for approx. 2500 developers-cum-users 
for a period of five years. Alternatively, if the 
software is offered on core-based licences, licenses 
for 16 core may be offered.

Shortlisted bidders through technical evaluation shall be provided 
with further information, prior to the Proposal for Commercials

8



SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 8

Interconnectivity and Compatibility
Ability for integrating the software through 
customisable Application Programming Interfaces 
(APIs), embedding options.

Could you provide more details on where the 
integration using customizable APIs and 
embedding options is expected? Specifically:

			What are some examples or details of the 
target systems (e.g., Core Banking Systems, ERPs, 
CRMs, Payment Gateways) that need to be 
integrated with the software?
			Are there any third-party applications or 
external data sources that require API-based 
integration?
			Will the software need to embed dashboards 
or analytics modules into other applications (e.g., 
internal portals, intranets)?
			Are there specific API formats or standards 
(e.g., REST, SOAP) preferred by the Bank?
			Will there be a need for real-time data 
synchronization, or will batch-based integration be 
sufficient?

Further details shall be shared with the shortlisted bidders before 
Proposal for Commercials

Clarification on Disaster Recovery (DR), RTO, and 

RPO Requirements:

Could you confirm whether disaster recovery (DR) 
for the application is required as part of this 
project?	
	
		If yes, will a DR environment need to be set up 
by the bidder, or does the Bank already have an 

existing DR infrastructure?
		What are the specific Recovery Time Objective 
(RTO) and Recovery Point Objective (RPO) 
expectations for the application?		
		Is the data warehouse database currently 
equipped with a DR setup?

Installation and configaration of the software is to be done in DR.

Details shall be shared with the successful bidder

Data Size, Type, Growth

Colud you confirm following regarding the data:-

   What is total size of data currently that the data 
analytics solution will be handling.
   Can we bifurcate this into structured data, 
unstructured data, semi-structured data ?
   What is the rate of growth expected for next 5 
years for all types of data ?

Details shall be shared with the successful bidder

SECTION I 4
Pre-Integrity Pact on Rs.200/- stamp paper as per 
the format in this bid document as given in 
Annexure-III.

As stamp papers are available at a denominations 
of Rs.50 and 100. Shall we use two 100 rs stamp 
papers for the execution of the Annexure. 

Yes

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 8
Conducting online/ physical training for multiple 
batches covering one cycle of different user 
groups.

Please advise us on the  No. Of users for training. Details shall be shared with the successful bidder

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 8
Conducting online/ physical training for multiple 
batches covering one cycle of different user 
groups.

Training will be post-delivery of the migration. 
Please confirm 

Details shall be shared with the successful bidder

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 8

Supply, install, and commission the software and 
provide licences within 30 days from the date of 
issue of the contract order.   Migrate the existing 
reports, dashboards and Analytical Use Cases 
(AUCs) developed in Power BI within six months 
from the date of issue of the contract order.

The migration activity time line will be 6 months 
post license commissioning. Kindly confirm. 

As per the revision through corrigendum

SECTION IV – BIDDER’S ELIGIBILITY 
CRITERIA

10
The primary bidder should have 24*7 offsite 
support.

In page no. 31 , 23 noticed onsite support is 
required. Kindly clarify its on oniste supprt or 
offsite support in business hours. 

As per the revision through corrigendum

ANNEXURE-VIII 33 140 reports 
Any additional new reports to be developed along 
with migrated dashboards. Please specify the count 
if any. 

Further details shall be shared with the shortlisted bidders before 
Proposal for Commercials

SECTION II – SCHEDULE OF EVENTS 5
Date and time of Pre-bid meeting (Physical 
Meeting)

Request to make it as an Online Meeting. We are 
Bengaluru based Product Startup. Physical Meeting 

is inconvinience to number of participants like us. 
Currently number of banks and Govt departments 
use Video Conferencing solutions widely in such 
Pre Bid Meetings. It helps more participation from 
across the country including companies from Tier 3 
cities. 

Yes- Meeting link already sent

SECTION IV – BIDDER’S ELIGIBILITY 
CRITERIA

10

The bidder should have net profit in at least two 
financial years during last three audited financial 
years.
The net worth of the Bidder should be positive as 
at the end of the 31 March 2024 based on the 
audited financial statements. A certificate to this 
effect duly signed by the Auditor of the bidder 
shall be submitted.

Request to extend Exemptions to the product 
Startup as per the Guidelines of Ministry of 
Finance. 

As per the revision through corrigendum

SECTION IV – BIDDER’S ELIGIBILITY 
CRITERIA

10

The software proposed by primary bidder should 
have been in industry for a minimum of 5 years 
and should have provided its data analytics 
software to at least 3 clients in BFSI(Banking, 
Financial Services, and Insurance) Sector, within 
the past 3 Financial Years.

Request to extend Exemptions to the Startup as per 
the Guidelines of Ministry of Finance. We request 
NABARD to consider Proof of Concept from the 
Startup to demonstrate the Platform capabilities. 

As per the revision through corrigendum

Additional Clarification



ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS

29
Integration with multiple sources systems/ 
applications

Data Sources and Integration
1).What are the key data sources to be considered 
in the scope (e.g., Oracle, SQL Server, core banking 
systems, third-party APIs)?
2).Do any of these data sources require real-time or 
near-real-time integration for the new platform?
3)Can you provide details on the total volume of 
historical data that will be involved in the 
migration (e.g., size of datasets in GB/TB)?
4)What is the average daily data generation rate (in 
terms of rows, records, or size) across your current 
underlying data sources?
5)What is the expected growth rate of data over the 
next 1–3 years, and how would this impact storage 
and processing requirements in the analytics 
platform?

Details shall be shared with the successful bidder

Scope of Work 7 Interconnectivity and Compatibility

Data Transformation and ETL Processes
1).Can you provide details on the ETL processes 
used to prepare data for Power BI reports (e.g., 
tools like SSIS, Informatica, or custom ETL 
pipelines)?
2)What are the specific requirements around data 
refresh frequency for reports? Are there daily, 
hourly, or real-time refresh needs?

Details shall be shared with the successful bidder

Scope of Work 7 Security and Authentication

User Access and Security
1.)How is user authentication currently managed 
(e.g., Azure AD, on-premise AD, SSO) for Power BI, 
and will this need to be integrated with the new 
analytics platform?
2)Are there specific RBAC (Role-Based Access 
Control) or granular security requirements for 
sensitive financial or customer data in reports?
3)Are there existing or planned data governance 
policies around data lineage, audit trails, and 
report versioning that need to be enforced?

1. Azure AD
2. Yes
3. Yes

Scoring methodology for Technical 
Evaluation

13
Methodology and approach for migration of 
existing Power BI reports

Current Power BI Setup and Reports
1.)How many Power BI reports/dashboards are 
currently in use across the bank, and what is their 
complexity (e.g., multi-page reports, embedded 
analytics, use of RLS—Row Level Security)?
2.)Can you provide a list or classification of the 
Power BI reports by department (e.g., finance, 
marketing, risk management) to assess the scope of 
migration for each?
3.)Are there custom visuals or advanced analytics 

(e.g., DAX, R scripts, or Python) used in these 
reports that will need to be supported in the new 
platform?
4.)How frequently do these users interact with 
Power BI (daily, weekly, real-time)? How critical 
are real-time analytics for day-to-day banking 
operations?
5.)Can you confirm whether all reports are cloud-
hosted (Power BI Service) or if there is any on-
premises Power BI Report Server usage that needs 
migration to the new platform?

Further details shall be shared with the shortlisted bidders before 
Proposal for Commercials

ANNEXURE-IX - REQUIRED 
ENVIRONMENT

34 Hardware Requirements:

Infrastructure and Performance Expectations
1.)What is the current on-premise or cloud 
infrastructure supporting Power BI? Are you 
expecting a on-premise, hybrid or fully cloud-based 
solution?
2.)Are there specific performance SLAs that need to 
be met for query response times, report loading 
times, or concurrent user access?

1. On-premise
2. Further details shall be shared with the shortlisted bidders before 
Proposal for Commercials

SECTION IV – BIDDER’S ELIGIBILITY 
CRITERIA

10 Make In India

Request you to incorporate Make In India criteria 
as part of the EOI.

Ministry of Finance published circular to procure 
Make In India product where procurement amount 
is less than Rs 200Cr. Category-1 where Make in 
India is more than 50% will have higher weightage 
over Category-2 Where Make In India is more than 
20%.  

No change

SECTION IV – BIDDER’S ELIGIBILITY 
CRITERIA

10 Make In India
Kindly have the OEM's Make in India confirmation 
atleast CEO or Country Head of the Original 
Software Company. 

No change

SECTION IV – BIDDER’S ELIGIBILITY 
CRITERIA

10 Make In India
Kindly have the OEM's development center for this 
Data Analytics Platform in India. A confirmation 
from the CEO or Country head of the organisation.  

No change

General NA NA List of source systems to connect with Tableau
Further details shall be shared with the shortlisted bidders before 
Proposal for Commercials

General NA NA
Is there middle layer (Data Mart/Data Warehouse) 
available for data transformation

Yes

Section II - Schedule of Events,
,

5
Last Date and Time for Expression of Interest 
(EoI) Submission along with all supporting 
documents is 04 Nov 2024 @ 5.00 pm

We request the Bank to extend the bid submission 
for atleast 10-15 days after the pre-bid clarification 
is shared.

No change



Section IV-Bidder’s Eligibility Criteria
10

Average annual turnover of ₹25 crore and above 
for the last three Financial Years (2021-22, 2022-
23 and 2023-24)

We humbly request Bank to reduce the minimum 
annual turnover to 10 to 15 Crores to provide 
relaxation to MSEs on this criterion, considering 
the GOI guidelines for MSEs. {Ministry of 
Micro, Small & Medium Enterprises 
(MSMEs) vide Policy Circular No. 
1(2)(1)/2016-MA dated 10" March, 2016 has 
clarified that all Central Ministries / 
Departments / Central Public Sector 
Undertakings (CPSUs) may relax condition 
of prior turnover and prior experience with 
respect of Micro & Small Enterprises 
(MSEs) in all public procurements subject 
to meeting of quality and technical 
specifications.}

As per the revision through corrigendum

SECTION IV ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA 10

The software proposed by primary bidder should 
have been in industry for a minimum of 5 years 
and should have provided its data analytics 
software to at least 3 clients in BFSI

Restrictive criteria has been laid down as per this 
clause which is against Make in India OEMs or 
solution providers as per MSME Policy & hence, 
favouring only few global OEMs/MNCs to 
participate in the tender. We would request you to 
kindly relax this for MSME or amend the clause as 
mentioned below for larger participation.
"The software proposed by primary bidder should 
have been in industry for a minimum of 5 years and 
should have provided its data analytics software to 

at least 3 clients in 
BFSI/Telecom/Manufacturing/Govt/Large 
Enterprises in India"

As per the revision through corrigendum

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK
General Delivery Variables

7
Provide the ability to remotely wipe data from lost 
or stolen devices

Device management is generally taken care by 
separate 3rd party tools and is not a standard 
offering of Analytics Software and limits the  wider 
participation, hence we request you to kindly 
remove this from the Analytics Requirement.

No change

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK
General Delivery Variables

7

Provide certificate of conforming to the Open 
Worldwide Application Security Project (OWASP) 
standards for source code in the prescribed 
format.

We understand that the OWASP standards 
certification can be provided during supply of the 
licenses, kindly confirm

No change

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK
General Delivery Variables

6

Delivery of the Data Analytics software with 
licenses for approx. 2500 developers-cum-users 
for a period of five years. Alternatively, if the 
software is offered on core-based licences, licenses 
for 16 core may be offered.

The specified licensing terms are overly restrictive 
and do not adequately address the comprehensive 
aspects necessary for a proven and effective 
solution. To ensure clarity and avoid any 
limitations or ambiguities, we request that 
licensing be structured with more flexibility 
regarding:

The total number of BI/Analytics users license
The total number of users license

The number of integrations license and size of data 
to be integrated

No Change

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 6
Migrate the existing reports and dashboards 
developed in Power BI to the new software 
commissioned.

Kindly confirm the below details to efficiently size 
the sizing, timelines and efforts for migration:
1. number of integrations required
2. size of total data
3. data retention period required
4. We understand that Power BI will expose the 
required open APIs for migration of existing 
reports, kindly  confirm

Details shall be shared with the shortlisted bidders before Proposal for 
Commercials

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS
2 Product Features

29 2.2 Data integration

Details about existing system, data sources to be 
integrated size of data, retention duration are not 
provided, Request you o kindly provide these 
details to ensure respective sizing, performance 
and scalability along with timelines basis the efforts 
can be calculated efficiently. 

Details shall be shared with the shortlisted bidders before Proposal for 
Commercials

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 29
Ensure the software supports seamless 
interconnectivity between applications and 
hardware, without any limitation on data size 
related performance.

The current clause asks for unlimited data which is 
not practical in terms of solution delivery since 
clear data size is required to ensure optimal 
dimensioning, performance and sizing, hence we 

request to kindly provide the required data size and 
amend the clause accordingly to reflect the required 
performance expectations:
"Interconnectivity and Compatibility 
Ensure the software supports seamless 
interconnectivity between applications and 
hardware, ensure performance and the platform 
should be scalable without needing architectural 
changes"

Details shall be shared with the shortlisted bidders before Proposal for 
Commercials

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS 31

Be agile to support integration with existing 
applications and upcoming applications, along 
with future upgrades, through APIs/ web services 
etc.

Details of the existing and upcoming systems is 
required to ensure the proposed solution meets the 
efficiency, performance, scalability requirement. 
We request to kindly share the below necessary 
details to do the dimensioning,siing and licensing:
Existing app/databases/data source count, 
data size, 
number of integrations, 
number of upcoming apps/db/datasources along 
with their expected size 
data retention duration

Details shall be shared with the shortlisted bidders before Proposal for 
Commercials



SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 7
Implement various security measures including 
Single Sign-on (SSO) integration, and device 
authorization. 

Device Authorization is a restrictive clause and 
should be relaxed to allow for wider participation 
and we request to amend the clause as below:
"Implement various security measures including 
Single Sign-on (SSO) integration, and device 
authorization"

No Change

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 8
Ensure secure login options and handling 
multiple device authorizations.

We understand that this feature is required from 
the mobile app , kindly confirm that this is not 
applicable in case the  solution supports responsive  
web based GUI that can be accessed from any 
PC,workstation,Mobile, Tablet

No change

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS
ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS
1 General Features

29
Capture the device ID while logging in to the 
software to authorize the device.

We understand that this feature is required from 
the mobile app , kindly confirm that this is not 
applicable in case the  solution supports responsive  
web based GUI that can be accessed from any 
PC,workstation,Mobile, Tablet

No Change

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS
ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS

1 General Features

29
Switch to the offline mode and still be able to use 
the product functionalities and all downloaded 

information. 

We understand that this feature is required from 
the mobile app, kindly confirm. 
Additionally the requirement to use the complete 
functionality over mobile app in the offline mode is 
not feasible, since the analytics platform required 
central processing , hence we request you to amend 

the clause as follows:
"The solution should have responsive  web based 
GUI that can be accessed from any 
PC,workstation,Mobile, Tablet"

No Change

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 8

Migrate the existing reports, dashboards and 
Analytical Use Cases (AUCs) developed in Power 
BI within six months from the date of issue of the 
contract order. The details of the existing Power 
BI reports and dashboards to be migrated are 
given in Annexure VIII

We understand that the migration of data has to be 
completed within 180 Days (06 months) and not 
105 Days- Kindly confirm

As per the revision through corrigendum

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 9 Migration of existing Power Bi Reports 105 days As per the revision through corrigendum

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 7
Software that come bundled with a mobile app 
(for both android and iOS) would be preferred.

Mobile App is not a standard requirement for an 
analytics solution and hence we request that the 
solution provider can provider can either provide 
responsive  web based GUI that can be accessed 
from any PC,workstation,Mobile, Tablet, Kindly 
confirm and also we request that mobile app clause 
be removed from QCBS evaluation

No Change

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS
ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS
2.9 Mobility

30
Accessing & interacting with the reports and 
dashboards on the-move. Compatible with both 
iOS and Android-powered mobile devices.

We recognize the need to deliver a seamless user 
experience through an easy-to-use access 
mechanism. Therefore, we request that the 
proposed solution should be asked with a 

responsive web-based GUI rather than a mobile 
app, as mobile apps are not standard for analytics 
platforms. This approach will also ensure a lower 
total cost of ownership for the department and 
eliminate concerns about data wiping or security. 
We kindly request the following amendment to the 
clause:

'The solution should feature a responsive web-
based GUI that is accessible from any PC, 
workstation, mobile device, or tablet.'

No Change

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 7
Provide the ability to remotely wipe data from lost 
or stolen devices. 

We understand that this feature is required from 
the mobile app, kindly confirm. 
Additionally it is preferrable to have no local data 
on remote devices to ensure security  and without 
need to wipe data on lost devices, hence we request 
to have remove this requirement and have the 
below clause that meets the need to have a 
seamless user experience"
"The solution should have responsive  web based 
GUI that can be accessed from any 
PC,workstation,Mobile, Tablet"

No Change

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS
ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS
Regular Updates and Enhancements

31

Provisions for regular updates and enhancements 
to the data analytics software to incorporate new 
features, improvements, 
and optimizations based on user feedback and 
evolvingrequirements. 

We understand that the new features shall be 
decided basis feasiblity and shall be treated as 
Change request over and above the current scope, 
kidnly confirm

Yes

SECTION IV ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA 10

The primary bidder (OEM/ SI) should be a 
company registered in India under Company Act, 
1956/ 2013 or a partnership firm/ a Limited 
Liability Partnership company under the Limited 
Liability Partnership Act, 2008 with average 
annual turnover of ₹25 crore and above for the 
last three FYs (2021-22, 2022-23 and 2023-24)

Will the Fintech companies allowed to participate 
in the tender process, if we have participated in the 
empanelment process for any new software 
development projects with NABARD?.

Minimum eligibility criteria norms to be complied with

SECTION IV ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA 10

The software proposed by primary bidder should 
have been in industry for a minimum of 5 years 
and should have provided its data analytics 
software to at least 3 clients in BFSI(Banking, 
Financial Services, and Insurance) Sector, within 
the past 3 Financial Years.

Will there be exemption provided for MSME 
bidders for the experience criteria

No



Section IV -Eligibility Criteria 3

The software proposed by primary bidder should 
have been in industry for a minimum of 5 years 
and should have provided its data analytics 
software to at least 3 clients in BFSI (Banking, 
Financial Services, and Insurance) Sector, within 
the past 3 Financial Years.

As data analytics software is a  horizontal solution 
that is deployed across all industries, the bidder 
request the following clause to be incorporated:
A. The software proposed by primary bidder should 
have been in the industry for a minimum of 5 years 
and 
B. The primary bidder should have implemented 
the proposed data analytics software in atleast 1 
BFSI/Govt organisation/PSU in the last 3 years. 
C. Additionally, the primary bidder or its OEM to  
submit 2 client references where the proposed 
software has been implemented in BFSI within 5 
financial years. (OEM implementation Purchase 
order can be submitted in this case if the primary 
bidder does not have the direct experience)

As per the revision through corrigendum

Section IV -Eligibility Criteria 3

The software proposed by primary bidder should 
have been in industry for a minimum of 5 years 
and should have provided its data analytics 

software to at least 3 clients in BFSI (Banking, 
Financial Services, and Insurance) Sector, within 
the past 3 Financial Years.

As data analytics software is a  horizontal solution 
that is deployed across all industries, the bidder 
request the following clause to be incorporated:
A. The software proposed by primary bidder should 
have been in the industry for a minimum of 5 years 
and 
B. The primary bidder should have implemented 

the proposed data analytics software in atleast 1 
BFSI/Govt organisation/PSU in the last 3 years. 
C. Additionally, the primary bidder to  submit 2 
client references where similar data analytics 
software has been  implemented in BFSI/govt. 
organisation/ PSU within 5 financial years

As per the revision through corrigendum

Section IV -Eligibility Criteria 2
Relevant Purchase orders, clearly indicating the 
scope and value of the contract, with client 
references and contact details.

Bidder to submit Purchase order mentioning the 
type of data analytics License supplied with high 
level BOQ. (Value of the contract is sensitive 
information hence the same cannot be provided)

No Change

Section VII - Terms and c onditions 17

NABARD reserves the right to inspect the 
facilities of the bidder any time during the 
evaluation stage to verify the genuineness and to 
ensure the conformity with the proposal 
submitted (and ‘Independent External Monitors’ 
in Pre-Contract Integrity Pact)

Request to delete this requirement in Section 
VII.We need to have certain safeguards and 
guardrails around audit and inspection. We can 
share these deviations at a later stage (ie. 
contracting stage).

No Change

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 6

Delivery of the Data Analytics software with 
licenses for approx. 2500 developers-cum-users 
for a period of five years. Alternatively, if the 
software is offered on core-based licences, licenses 

for 16 core may be offered.

Bidder requests NABARD to confirm-
1) Breakup of developer and viewers users from the 
total number of users
2) Are the number of users expected to grow during 

the contract period?

No Change

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 6
In-house consulting services for specific business 
needs.

Bidder requests NABARD to confirm the scope for 
in-house consulting services. Is it required full time 
or on man days basis?

Man days basis

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 7
Support and Maintenance

resolve any issues promptly.

Bidder understands that the support mentioned is 
remote. Please confirm.

As per the revision through corrigendum

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 7
Provide the ability to remotely wipe data from lost 
or stolen devices.

Bidder understands that NABARD has Mobile 
Device Management for handling security related 
requirements.

Yes

SECTION-V QCBS EVALUATION 
CRITERIA

14
N Vendor is providing both perpetual and 
subscription-based pricing models

Bidder requests NABARD to allow either perpetual 
or subscription pricing model.

Bidder can provide their preferred pricing model as per the prescribed 
format

ANNEXURE-V – PROJECT DETAILS 28 7. Contract Amount (Rs. lakh) Mandatory- Y
Bidder requests NABARD to remove the contract 
amount as a mandatory ask since we sign NDA with 
the clients.

No Change

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS

29 2.1 Data mining
Bidder requests NABARD to confirm the data 
refresh frequency. (E.g.Once/Twice in day)

Details shall be provided to the successful bidder

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS

29 2.2 Data integration

Bidder requests NABARD to confirm-
1) What are the specific sources databases types?
2) Relevant analytics ready data volume for 
Dashboarding and reporting layer (in MBs/GBs)

Shortlisted bidders through technical evaluation shall be provided 
with further information, prior to the Proposal for Commercials

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS

29 2.3 Visualization Types

Bidder requests NABARD to confirm whether the 
software should have specific capabilities for 
suggesting visualization types based on data sets, or 
will predefined visualization templates suffice?

Criteria is to provide the functionality as per the business 
requirements

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS

29 2.4 User-Friendly Interface

Bidder understands that complete browser based 
access and single user interface for development 
and viewer both is required as part of scope. Please 
confirm.

Yes

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS

29 2.4 User-Friendly Interface
Bidder requests NABARD to confirm the level of 
self service required.

Shortlisted bidders through technical evaluation shall be provided 
with further information, prior to the Proposal for Commercials

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS

29
2.5 Automated Reporting
Scheduled generation and distribution of reports.

Bidder requests NABARD to confirm-
1) How many reports are required to be automated? 
2) What is the frequency (Daily/monthly/Weekly) 
of reports?

Details furnished in Annexure VIII on page 33; 
Further details shall be provided to the successful bidder

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS

29 2.5 Automated Reporting
Bidder requests NABARD to confirm the how many 
months or periods of data is required in dashboards 
and reporting?

Details shall be provided to the successful bidder



ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS

29 2.9 Mobility
Bidder understands that NABARD requires online 
and offline accessibility of dashboards on Mobile 
Application, please confirm.

Yes

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS

31
User Management
3.2 Add user profiles

Bidder requests NABARD to provide details of 
different user personas (e.g., Analyst, Manager, 
Executive) with specific feature access 
requirements and typical usage scenarios.

Details shall be provided to the shortlisted bidders before Proposal for 
Commercials

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS

31
4 Additional Services- In-house consulting 
services for specific business needs such as 
migration of existing dashboards/ Reports.

Bidder requests NABARD to confirm the number of 
mandays required for in-house consulting services. 
Is resource expected to be available as per 
requirement or full time?

Details shall be provided to the shortlisted bidders before Proposal for 
Commercials

ANNEXURE-VIII - DETAILS OF 
EXISTING POWER BI REPORTS TO BE 
MIGRATED

33 NA
Considering the volume of high complexity AUC 
and dashboards, we request NABARD to increase 
the implementation timeline by additional 30 days.

No change

SECTION IV ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA 10

The software proposed by primary bidder should 
have been in industry for a minimum of 5 years 
and should have provided its data analytics 
software to at least 3 clients in BFSI

Restrictive criteria has been laid down as per this 
clause which is against Make in India OEMs or 
solution providers as per MSME Policy & hence, 
favouring only few global OEMs/MNCs to 
participate in the tender. We would request you to 
kindly relax this for MSME or amend the clause as 
mentioned below for larger participation.
"The software proposed by primary bidder should 
have been in industry for a minimum of 5 years and 
should have provided its data analytics software to 

at least 3 clients in 
BFSI/Telecom/Manufacturing/Govt/Large 
Enterprises in India"

As per the revision through corrigendum

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK
General Delivery Variables

7
Provide the ability to remotely wipe data from lost 
or stolen devices

Device management is generally taken care by 
separate 3rd party tools and is not a standard 
offering of Analytics Software and limits the  wider 
participation, hence we request you to kindly 
remove this from the Analytics Requirement.

No change

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK
General Delivery Variables

7

Provide certificate of conforming to the Open 
Worldwide Application Security Project (OWASP) 
standards for source code in the prescribed 
format.

We understand that the OWASP standards 
certification can be provided during supply of the 
licenses, kindly confirm

No change

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK
General Delivery Variables

6

Delivery of the Data Analytics software with 
licenses for approx. 2500 developers-cum-users 
for a period of five years. Alternatively, if the 
software is offered on core-based licences, licenses 
for 16 core may be offered.

The specified licensing terms are overly restrictive 
and do not adequately address the comprehensive 
aspects necessary for a proven and effective 
solution. To ensure clarity and avoid any 
limitations or ambiguities, we request that 
licensing be structured with more flexibility 
regarding:

The total number of BI/Analytics users license
The total number of users license

The number of integrations license and size of data 
to be integrated

No Change

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 6
Migrate the existing reports and dashboards 
developed in Power BI to the new software 
commissioned.

Kindly confirm the below details to efficiently size 
the sizing, timelines and efforts for migration:
1. number of integrations required
2. size of total data
3. data retention period required
4. We understand that Power BI will expose the 
required open APIs for migration of existing 
reports, kindly  confirm

Details shall be provided to the shortlisted bidders before Proposal for 
Commercials

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS
2 Product Features

29 2.2 Data integration

Details about existing system, data sources to be 
integrated size of data, retention duration are not 
provided, Request you o kindly provide these 
details to ensure respective sizing, performance 
and scalability along with timelines basis the efforts 
can be calculated efficiently. 

Details shall be provided to the shortlisted bidders before Proposal for 
Commercials

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 29

Interconnectivity and Compatibility 
Ensure the software supports seamless 
interconnectivity between applications and 
hardware, without any limitation on data size 
related performance.

The current clause asks for unlimited data which is 
not practical in terms of solution delivery since 
clear data size is required to ensure optimal 
dimensioning, performance and sizing, hence we 

request to kindly provide the required data size and 
amend the clause accordingly to reflect the required 
performance expectations:
"Interconnectivity and Compatibility 
Ensure the software supports seamless 
interconnectivity between applications and 
hardware, ensure performance and the platform 
should be scalable without needing architectural 
changes"

No change

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS 31

Be agile to support integration with existing 
applications and upcoming applications, along 
with future upgrades, through APIs/ web services 
etc.

Details of the existing and upcoming systems is 
required to ensure the proposed solution meets the 
efficiency, performance, scalability requirement. 
We request to kindly share the below necessary 
details to do the dimensioning,siing and licensing:
Existing app/databases/data source count, 
data size, 
number of integrations, 
number of upcoming apps/db/datasources along 
with their expected size 
data retention duration

Details shall be provided to the shortlisted bidders before Proposal for 
Commercials



SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 7
Implement various security measures including 
Single Sign-on (SSO) integration, and device 
authorization. 

Device Authorization is a restrictive clause and 
should be relaxed to allow for wider participation 
and we request to amend the clause as below:
"Implement various security measures including 
Single Sign-on (SSO) integration, and device 
authorization"

No Change

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 8
Ensure secure login options and handling 
multiple device authorizations.

We understand that this feature is required from 
the mobile app , kindly confirm that this is not 
applicable in case the  solution supports responsive  
web based GUI that can be accessed from any 
PC,workstation,Mobile, Tablet

No change

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS
ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS
1 General Features

29
Capture the device ID while logging in to the 
software to authorize the device.

We understand that this feature is required from 
the mobile app , kindly confirm that this is not 
applicable in case the  solution supports responsive  
web based GUI that can be accessed from any 
PC,workstation,Mobile, Tablet

No Change

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS
ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS

1 General Features

29

Online/ Offline status 1.1
Switch to the offline mode and still be able to use 
the product functionalities and all downloaded 

information. 

We understand that this feature is required from 
the mobile app, kindly confirm. 
Additionally the requirement to use the complete 
functionality over mobile app in the offline mode is 
not feasible, since the analytics platform required 
central processing , hence we request you to amend 

the clause as follows:
"The solution should have responsive  web based 
GUI that can be accessed from any 
PC,workstation,Mobile, Tablet"

No Change

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 8

Migrate the existing reports, dashboards and 
Analytical Use Cases (AUCs) developed in Power 
BI within six months from the date of issue of the 
contract order. The details of the existing Power 
BI reports and dashboards to be migrated are 
given in Annexure VIII

We understand that the migration of data has to be 
completed within 180 Days (06 months) and not 
105 Days- Kindly confirm

As per the revision through corrigendum

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 9 Migration of existing Power Bi Reports 105 days As per the revision through corrigendum

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 7
Software that come bundled with a mobile app 
(for both android and iOS) would be preferred.

Mobile App is not a standard requirement for an 
analytics solution and hence we request that the 
solution provider can provider can either provide 
responsive  web based GUI that can be accessed 
from any PC,workstation,Mobile, Tablet, Kindly 
confirm and also we request that mobile app clause 
be removed from QCBS evaluation

No Change

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS
ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS
2.9 Mobility

29
Accessing & interacting with the reports and 
dashboards on the-move. Compatible with both 
iOS and Android-powered mobile devices.

We recognize the need to deliver a seamless user 
experience through an easy-to-use access 
mechanism. Therefore, we request that the 

proposed solution should be asked with a 
responsive web-based GUI rather than a mobile 
app, as mobile apps are not standard for analytics 
platforms. This approach will also ensure a lower 
total cost of ownership for the department and 
eliminate concerns about data wiping or security. 
We kindly request the following amendment to the 
clause:

'The solution should feature a responsive web-
based GUI that is accessible from any PC, 
workstation, mobile device, or tablet.'

No Change

SECTION III - SCOPE OF WORK 7
Provide the ability to remotely wipe data from lost 
or stolen devices. 

We understand that this feature is required from 
the mobile app, kindly confirm. 
Additionally it is preferrable to have no local data 
on remote devices to ensure security  and without 
need to wipe data on lost devices, hence we request 
to have remove this requirement and have the 
below clause that meets the need to have a 
seamless user experience"
"The solution should have responsive  web based 
GUI that can be accessed from any 
PC,workstation,Mobile, Tablet"

No Change

ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS
ANNEXURE-VI - SUBMISSION OF 
NECESSARY TECHNICAL DETAILS
Regular Updates and Enhancements

31

Provisions for regular updates and enhancements 
to the data analytics software to incorporate new 
features, improvements, 
and optimizations based on user feedback and 
evolvingrequirements. 

We understand that the new features shall be 
decided basis feasiblity and shall be treated as 
Change request over and above the current scope, 
kidnly confirm

Yes

Eligibility Criteria - Point 3 10

The software proposed by primary bidder should 
have been in industry for a minimum of 5 years 
and should have provided its data analytics 
software to at least 3 clients in BFSI

If MS Fabric is considered then it is only a year old 
service. Can the capping on the number of years be 
removed. Also, is it okay to submit PO details for 3 
clients with mixed industry verticals rathar than 
only BFSI

No change

Submission of necessary technical 
details

29
Switch to the offline mode and still be able to use 
the product functionalities and all downloaded 
information.

Fabric solution is completely online. Are you 
requiring any software to be installed on the end 
user device that can be used offline?

Yes

Submission of necessary technical 
details

29
Device authorization Capture the device ID while 
logging in to the software to authorize the device 

From technical standpoint we need to check if this 
is feasible with SSO

The user needs to log in on a mobile device, where SIM authentication 
will be performed to verify their identity.

Software Installation and Navigation 7
Software that come bundled with a mobile app 
(for both android and iOS) would be preferred

Is this just to view power bi dashboard in mobile 
app?

Yes



Hardware Requirements 34 Hardware & Software specification

Does the solution needs to be on-premise or are 
you ready to adopt and move to cloud? Need more 
clarity on this Hardware & Software specifications 
as to why it is required.

On-premise

General NA General
 Kindly clarify if the team needs to be deployed 
onsite or offshore? Will Hybrid model work for 
NABARD and this project? 

Hybrid

Section III Scope of Work; 6
Delivery of the Data Analytics software with 
licenses for approx. 2500 developers-cum-users 
for a period of five years.

What is the bifurcation for 2500 users? Can you 
break it down by number of developers, Power 
Users (clarify role of Power Users in the system), 
Only viewers, ML users?

Universal license without any user-level limitation

Section I Introduction- 6
Pre-Integrity Pact on Rs.200/- stamp paper as per 
the format in this bid document as given in 
Annexure-III.

Pre Integrtity pact to be submitted Online only or 
hard copy needs to be sent to NABARD Office?

Scanned copy along with the bid documents; hard copy to be sent by 
post/ courier/ hand deliver

General NA General
Will the current PowerBI users be developers in the 
system?

Universal license without any user-level limitation

Section V 12
Only the bidders who are found technically 
qualified in Technical Evaluation would be 
considered for Proposal for Commercials.

Do we need to submit commercials  along with 
Technical bid? Or post Technical selection?

Proposal for Commercials open for the shortlisted bidders only

Section III Scope of Work; 7
Enable users to view, annotate, and share 
documents, videos, and audio files

Can you let us know if the expectation is to 
integrate Audio and videos in the 
dashboard/reports/models to be built? Or how the 
Audio and videos are expected to be used in the 
software suite?

As per the revision through corrigendum

Annexure VI - Submission of Technnical 

Details; 
29

Capture the device ID while logging in to the 

software to authorize the device.

Capturing of Device ID is intended for the Mobile 

devices from which the user views the report? 
Yes

Annexure VIII - DETAILS OF EXISTING 
POWER BI REPORTS TO BE 
MIGRATED 

33 Need Clairifation =>

1. Visuals: Every visualization object is counted as 1 
e.g. 1 bar chart is counted as 1, 1 pie chart is 
counted as 1, so total 2 visuals.
2. Tables: Can you please let us know, the table 
count stated are the source table count (tables 
available in the source system) or tables which are 
transformed/created after applying some logics to 
be used in the dashboards/reports.

Yes
Count of tables in grid format in the visualisation is provided in the 
EoI document; does not refer to the count of underlying database 
tables
Source table details shall be provided to the successful bidder

Section III
The software should provide data analytics for on-
the-fly data retrieval and visualisation.

Clarify if the solution includes real-time data 
updates / connectors or batch updates for large 
datasets.

Yes

Section III
The software should support seamless 
interconnectivity between applications and 
hardware.

What specific hardware types need to be supported 
for integration?

Furnish your hardware requirements in the specified format

Section III
The software should include AI integration to 
enhance functionality.

What level of AI integration is expected? Will it 
include predictive analytics or natural language 
processing?

Predictive analytics and NLP functionality are expected

Section III
Migrate existing Power BI reports within six 
months from the date of issue of the contract 
order.

Can you provide more details on the complexity 
and volume of existing Power BI reports to be 
migrated?

Details shall be provided to the shortlisted bidders before Proposal for 
Commercials

Annexure VI
The software should allow administrators to 
manage user roles, devices, and access rights.

Does NABARD require integration with an existing 

IAM (Identity and Access Management) system, or 
should this be included in the solution?

Integration with existing IAM

Annexure VIII Details of existing Power BI reports to be migrated
Will any existing Power BI datasets or dataflows be 
reused in the new environment, or will the data 
sources need to be completely reconfigured?

Details shall be provided to the shortlisted bidders before Proposal for 
Commercials

Annexure VIII Details of existing Power BI reports to be migrated
Will there be any changes to the data warehouse 
architecture, or is the expectation to use the same 
data model from Power BI?

Same data model from Power BI

Annexure VIII Details of existing Power BI reports to be migrated

How will security roles and access control from 
Power BI reports be handled in the new tool? 
Should they be migrated as-is, or will a new 
security model be adopted?

Details shall be provided to the shortlisted bidders before Proposal for 
Commercials

Annexure VIII Details of existing Power BI reports to be migrated
Are there any specific performance benchmarks 
that must be met after migrating the Power BI 
reports to the new tool?

Details shall be provided to the shortlisted bidders before Proposal for 
Commercials

Section III 6
Provide 24/7 call and Teams/email support to 
resolve any issues promptly.

Is on-site support required, or will remote support 
suffice?

As per the revision through corrigendum

Section III 7
Delivery of the Data Analytics software with 
licenses for approx. 2500 developers-cum-users 

for a period of five years.

What are the type of users?

What is the capability required by these user types.
How many are viewer?

As specified in the EoI document at Page 7

Section III 7
Extract, transform, and Load (ETL) capabilities 
through wide options of data integration.

Do you require a separate software or inbuilt 
capability would be adequate.?

Separate software not required

Section III 8
Ensure secure login options and handling 
multiple device authorizations.

Multiple devices are interpreted as Laptop and 
Mobile devices?

Yes

ANNEXURE-VI 29
Online/ Offline status  : Switch to the offline mode 
and still be able to use the product functionalities 
and all downloaded information.

What is the expectation of offline status? How 
many such reports have to be created.

Details shall be provided to the shortlisted bidders before Proposal for 
Commercials

ANNEXURE-VI 29
Device authorization
Capture the device ID while logging in to the 
software to authorize the device.

User authorisation would be through Active 
Directory. Is deviceID capture mandatory?

Yes

ANNEXURE-VI 29

Data mining The software should be able to 
retrieve data from various sources like 
spreadsheets & flat files like Microsoft Excel, CSV, 
HTML, JSON, XML, text files, jpeg, jpg, etc.

Data mining, can you give more insights on this ?
Is data sourcing required from JPEG, JPG file?  Refer EOI, page 29. 

ANNEXURE-VI 30
Ability to generate paginated reports in excel, 
PDF, MS Word, etc

Is report generation in MS Word mandatory 
requirment?

Yes



ANNEXURE-VI 30
Ability to export dashboards/ reports to ppt 
format.

Is report generation in PPT format mandatory 
requirment?

Yes

ANNEXURE-VIII 33 AUC What is AUC? Analytical Use Case

ANNEXURE-VIII 33 Low Medium High

Define complexity types ? (How many DAX 
functions, logics and integrations done to achieve 
visual counts?)

For Drilled reports : for 1 level drilled report would 
it be considered as 2 reports or 1 complex report?

Count of additional reports apart from the one 
getting migrated?

The dilled reports have different complexity as compared to reports 
without drill feature so they are counted accordingly

Delivery Model
What will be delivery model? Onsite & offshore mix 
possible during the project.

Onsite & offsite mix

SECTION IV – BIDDER’S ELIGIBILITY 
CRITERIA

10

The software proposed by primary bidder should 
have been in industry for a minimum of 5 years 
and should have provided its data analytics 
software to at least 3 clients in BFSI (Banking, 
Financial Services, and Insurance) Sector, within 
the past 3 Financial Years

We kindly request NABARAD to amend the clause 
as mentioned below:

The software proposed by primary bidder should 
have been in industry for a minimum of 5 years and 
should have provided its data analytics software to 
at least 3 clients in BFSI (Banking, Financial 
Services, and Insurance) Sector / Government/ 
PSU/ Private Sector/ Enterprise within the 
past 3 Financial Years

As per the revision through corrigendum

General - General
We understand that the Data Analytics Software 
should be hosted in On-Prem. Please confirm.

Yes

ANNEXURE-VIII - DETAILS OF 
EXISTING POWER BI REPORTS TO BE 

MIGRATED
33

Details of Existing Power BI Reports – To be 
Migrated

Please provide the Existing data size / volume to be 
migrated in the proposed solution.

Shortlisted bidders through technical evaluation shall be provided 
with further information, prior to the Proposal for Commercials

General - General - Data Volume

And also please provide the initial number of 
records/rows  that will be imported into the 
application (All the tables put together)

Total number of records/rows that the application 
will be holding at any given time (If NABARAD 
wish to store the data for long period of time)

Shortlisted bidders through technical evaluation shall be provided 
with further information, prior to the Proposal for Commercials

SECTION-V QCBS EVALUATION 
CRITERIA

13
Table 1 - Scoring methodology for Technical 
Evaluation 

We understand that the SECTION V: QCBS 
Evaluation Criteria applies during the RFP stage. 
At the current stage (EOI), bidders are required to 
submit their responses or documents to SECTION 
IV: Bidder’s Eligibility Criteria and Annexures I to 
IX. Please confirm.

No Change

Interconnectivity and Compatibility 7
Extract, transform, and Load (ETL) capabilities 
through wide options

of data integration.

Only limited ETL functionalities are currently 
supported. Could you provide clarity on the specific 

capabilities NABARD requirement?

As per the revision through corrigendum

Document Handling and Annotations 7

Enable users to view, annotate, and share 
documents, videos, and audio
files.Providing dynamic navigation and 
annotation tools with auto-save
functionality. Software should facilitate dynamic 
hiding of tables/ charts in reports if they do not 
have data.

Could you please confirm whether its for Importing 
or sharing audio/video files, auto-saving.

As per the revision through corrigendum

Single Sign On(SSO) integration 29
Single Sign On(SSO) to be configured using 
NABARD’s existing SSO tools (M365).

Our solution will support if M365 supports SAML. 
We support both SAML or AD. Please confirm

Yes

Online/ Offline status 29
Online/ Offline status Switch to the offline mode 
and still be able to use the product functionalities 
and all downloaded information.

App will be deployed on your premises behind the 
firewall. It will be accessible by users via a browser 
who are within the network in which the app is 
deployed. Please provide the clarification on what 
is meant by online/offline mode. 

Online through Mobile Application

Data mining 29

The software should be able to retrieve data from 
various sources like spreadsheets & flat files like 
Microsoft Excel, CSV, HTML, JSON, XML, text 
files, jpeg, jpg, etc.

We understand that "The software should be able 
to retrieve data from any of the various sources 
like spreadsheets & flat files like Microsoft Excel, 
CSV, HTML, JSON, XML, text files, jpeg, jpg, etc."
Please provide more clarity on what file types needs 
to be supported to import data. 

Apart from the Database sources

Data integration 29
Seamless integration with a wide range of 
databases, in-house applications and others.

We understand that the NABARD in-house 
applications support APIs. Please confirm

Yes

Export Options 30

Ability to export reports in various formats (PDF, 
Excel, etc.) the entire dashboard/ report, 
including headings, column headings etc.

Ability to generate paginated reports in excel, 
PDF, MS Word, etc.

Ability to export multiple dashboards/ reports 
into a single paginated pdf/ excel workbook 
formats with options for different page orientation 
for different pages; multiple options for fonts and 
aligning texts as also for automatic updation of 
‘page number index’ based on the number of 
pages in different tabs.

Ability to hide tables/ charts in reports, based on 
specified conditions

Please provide the required formats for exporting, 
as MS Word and single-paginated PDFs for reports 
are not supported. Additionally, could you clarify 
the use case for hiding reports or tables with no 
data? 

Details shall be provided to the shortlisted bidders before Proposal for 
Commercials



Collaboration 30

Sharing: Options to share dashboards and reports 
with team members.
Annotations: Ability to add comments and notes 
to visualizations and reports.
Version Control: Track changes and maintain 
versions of reports and dashboards.

Need details on the use case for having version 
control? As the versions progress, models and 
workflows may change, so it would be helpful to 
understand the specific need for version control in 
this context.

The tool should have version control capabilities

General - General
Could you please provide the connection type that 
you prefer to use (Data import/Live connect) 

Shortlisted bidders through technical evaluation shall be provided 
with further information, prior to the Proposal for Commercials

General - General
Could you please provide the If the connection type 
is data import, the sync interval for scheduling the 
import 

Shortlisted bidders through technical evaluation shall be provided 
with further information, prior to the Proposal for Commercials

General - General
Could you please provide the Growth rate of the 
records/rows per month

Shortlisted bidders through technical evaluation shall be provided 
with further information, prior to the Proposal for Commercials

General - General
Could you please provide the Initial number of 
records/rows, columns that will be imported into 
the application (All the tables put together)

Shortlisted bidders through technical evaluation shall be provided 
with further information, prior to the Proposal for Commercials

General - General

Could you please provide the Total number of 
records/rows that the application will be holding at 
any given time (If they wish to store the data for 
long period of time)

Shortlisted bidders through technical evaluation shall be provided 
with further information, prior to the Proposal for Commercials

General - General
Could you please provide the Number of users who 
will approximately access the application at any 
given point in time (concurrently)

Approximately 10% of the number of users indicated in the EOI 
doucment

SECTION IV – BIDDER’S ELIGIBILITY 
CRITERIA

10

The primary bidder Original Equipment 
Manufacturer /System Integrator should be a 
company registered in India under Company Act, 
1956/ 2013 or a partnership firm/ a Limited 
Liability Partnership company under the Limited 
Liability Partnership Act, 2008 with average 
annual turnover of ₹25 crore and above for the 
last three Financial Years (2021-22, 2022-23 and 
2023-24)

We kindly request NABARAD to amend the clause 
as mentioned below:

The primary bidder Original Equipment 
Manufacturer /System Integrator should be a 
company registered in India under Company Act, 
1956/ 2013 or a partnership firm/ a Limited 
Liability Partnership company under the Limited 
Liability Partnership Act, 2008 with average 
annual turnover of ₹25 crore and above for the last 
three Financial Years (2020-21, 2021-22 and 
2022-23 or 2021-22, 2022-23 and 2023-24)

No change

SECTION IV – BIDDER’S ELIGIBILITY 
CRITERIA

10

The bidder should have net profit in at least two 
financial years during last three audited financial 
years.

The net worth of the Bidder should be positive as 
at the end of the 31 March 2024 based on the 
audited financial statements. A certificate to this 
effect duly signed by the Auditor of the bidder 

shall be submitted.

We kindly request NABARAD to amend the clause 
as mentioned below:

The bidder should have net profit in at least two 
financial years during last three audited financial 
years.

The net worth of the Bidder should be positive as at 
the end of the 31 March 2023 or 31 March 2024 
based on the audited financial statements. A 
certificate to this effect duly signed by the Auditor 
of the bidder shall be submitted.

No Change


